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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued)
Expense to Income ratio

Operating Profit (£m)

68%

67%

33.5

36.3

2018

2019

2018

2019

Represents operating leverage and is calculated as total
administrative expenses as a proportion of total income.

Operating profit measures the Group's total revenue less
the total administrative expenses; and excludes any financing
income or expense.

Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA (£m)
60.6

67.1

2018

2019

Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA is a profit measurement that excludes certain non-cash items, non-recurring costs,
foreign exchange gains/losses, tax and interest, other than the interest costs incurred as part of our securitisation programme,
which are considered an operational expense.
A number of these measures are not specifically defined under or presented in accordance with IFRS, or any other Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and should not be considered as an alternative to profit for the year or any other performance measures derived in
accordance with IFRS. These measures are used by management in its day to day overview of the business and the Board believes that these
measures give a more rounded indication of the operating performance of the Company.

2019 Financial Highlights
The trading performance in 2019 was strong for Premium Credit, with Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA
increasing by 10.7% as the business was able to benefit from the significant investment made over recent years.
Net advances grew 4% year on year, with continued growth in our distribution partners, aided by enhanced
onboarding of new customers in insurance premium finance and new products within specialist lending
(Commuter Club launch and direct tax expansion). Towards the end of 2019, we started initiatives to increase the
penetration of premium finance within existing partners, which we expect to be reflected in 2020 performance.
Total income grew 3% year on year, as new facility fees were offset by lower chaser and default fees. However,
the lower chaser and default fees are themselves offset by better credit performance.
Credit performance was, in fact, very strong in 2019, driven by underlying performance (strong underwriting) and
provision releases (effective collections function). We believe these changes will continue to have a positive impact
on performance in 2020 which is likely to have a more challenging macro-economic backdrop.
These factors, with control of operating costs, whilst continuing to invest in the business, led to 11% Adjusted PostSecuritisation EBITDA growth. We expect new investment to ease over the next few years, as much of our digital
infrastructure is now well established and operational.
For further information on the financial performance of the Company, refer the Business Review section on
page 11.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
Our Business Model
Our Business and Vision
Premium Credit is a specialty provider of instalment financing to support the purchase of largely non-discretionary
insurance premiums and a range of annually charged services, including professional memberships and golf club
memberships, tax, school fees and season tickets. We lend over £3 billion each year to over 2 million customers
through a network of more than 3,000 partners.
At Premium Credit, we aspire to be the trusted payments and finance provider in our chosen markets, delivering
affordable solutions through seamless technology to facilitate the daily needs of our customers.
Our End Customers
We provide critical products to our end customers, allowing them to make the annual cost of mandatory or
important payments more affordable, by spreading them over regular instalments. We serve over 2 million retail,
SME and corporate clients, with a focus on good customer outcomes. This is reflected in our suite of customer
satisfaction scores, for example we are rated “Excellent” on Trustpilot.
Our Distribution Partners
We have a diversified network of over 3,000 partners, who outsource the provision of instalment finance to
Premium Credit. Our partner types span insurance brokers, insurance providers, membership organisations,
schools and leisure facility providers. As a B2B2C provider, we have high brand awareness within our strong
partner networks. Our relationships with partners are long-term and multi-facetted across their sales, operations
and IT functions. Partners choose to outsource and work with us given our track record of reliable service,
significant investment in IT integration for seamless customer journeys, and strong focus on regulatory
compliance.

Our Market and Position
Premium Credit serves two key end markets: (i) finance for insurance premiums (‘Insurance Premium Finance’)
and (ii) finance for other annually charged services, including professional memberships and golf club
memberships, tax, school fees and season tickets (‘Specialist Lending’).
Insurance Premium Finance
We operate in the UK and Ireland, predominantly through insurance brokers, funding non-life premiums. The total
broker market in the UK for non-life gross written premiums (‘GWP’) is c. £24 billion, growing broadly in line with
GDP. The total third party provided premium finance market is estimated at c. £7 billion, and Premium Credit is
one of the market leaders in insurance premium finance with a 44% market share. Premium finance has historically
grown at a faster rate than GWP, driven by increased penetration. Alternative forms of finance, such credit cards
and overdrafts, often attract higher rates than premium finance.
Over half of our distribution partners have worked with us for over 10 years. Beyond increasing penetration of
premium finance within existing broker partner base, we are also driving growth through other providers of
insurance. For example, we are working more directly with insurers who are looking to outsource the provision of
premium finance given increased regulatory requirements.
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Specialist Lending
Our specialist lending products exhibit similar attributes to insurance premium finance: making important policies
such as professional memberships and school fees affordable. Across all of our products, the penetration of
instalment finance is very low, representing significant market opportunity. Across just schools, tax and golf
memberships, we estimate there is a total market of over £240 billion payments per year, largely made up of
Corporation tax and VAT funding.
Our competitors in insurance premium finance are less active in this channel.

Our Unique Business Model
Our unique business model creates high barriers to entry, evidenced through long-term customer and partner
relationships and our strong financial performance.
Our digital investment
We have made material investment over the last 5 years to deliver our digital offering. Our technology platforms
enable point of sale financing with real-time decision making, either fully integrated within our partners’ systems
or seamlessly supported with customer and partner portals. For many partners, our platform becomes an integral
part of their payments system. Last year, we made 12.5 million real-time finance quotes, and facilitated 25 million
direct debits.
We have made significant investment in our cyber protection infrastructure.
Our regulatory and compliance culture
Premium Credit is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for Consumer Credit Lending and
Broking in the UK, and by the Central Bank of Ireland as a Moneylender in Ireland. We are the only insurance
premium finance provider accredited by the British Insurance Broking Association (relationship for over 15 years),
and have held preferred supplier status with Broker Ireland for over 5 years.
Our focus at Premium Credit is on strong customer outcomes. We assess customer affordability on all loans, and
perform an enhanced assessment on larger loans and higher risk customers. We ensure fair treatment to
customers through clear customer messaging, and though our focus is on digital, we ensure we can still serve
customers as required through more traditional channels.
Our credit expertise and multiple layers of credit protection
Our credit loss rate in 2019 averaged 0.17% of our net advances (2018: 0.22%). Our loss rates are significantly
lower and less volatile than other forms of consumer finance, given the combination of our credit expertise as well
as a number of layers of credit protection embedded in the majority of our products.
On a significant proportion of our products, the underlying policy is cancelled if the service is not paid for. In the
event the customer does not pay, Premium Credit either has recourse to the distribution partner, or Premium
Credit can seek repayment from the underlying insurer / service provider.
Our track record
These elements, in addition to our focus on critical products, drive consistent performance through-cycle with
strong cash conversion. Net advances have grown from £1bn in 2000, to £3.5bn today. The business model is wellprotected through economic downturns, as demonstrated in the 2008 financial crisis, where loss rates increased
from c.20bps average to c.40bps.
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Our Future
We comment below on our performance so far in 2020 in the light of the Covid-19 epidemic. Notwithstanding,
the short term difficulties, this causes over the coming years, we expect to continue to benefit from our material
technology investment to date. We will continue to drive growth in existing distribution partners, though
continued roll out of our latest payment technology and frontline training to increase penetration of our financing
products. We will also grow through new distribution partners, expanding our presence across insurers and other
types of distribution partner. We will continue to expand specialist lending, in particular exploring cross-sale
opportunities.
Topline growth will be complemented by operational efficiency, as processes continue to digitise and we increase
the operating leverage in the business.
Our ambition is to become the trusted payments and finance provider in our chosen markets. Longer-term, we
could look to explore routes to diversify our business into a broader digital credit offering (e.g. POS finance, broker
lending, insurer payment services, etc.), either organically or by acquisition. We could also consider international
expansion, as premium finance is well established in other international markets (e.g. the United States).

Our strategy
Our strategy is to enhance our strong market position by offering financing that addresses our customers' needs,
whilst enhancing further our already strong relationships with our intermediary partners. We believe by doing this
we will grow our business through increased penetration in our existing markets and new profitable growth
opportunities. We intend to achieve this by pursuing the following strategic priorities.
Create frictionless journeys for our end-customers and intermediary partners
We believe it is important to understand and simplify each step of our customers' and intermediary partners'
journeys with us. In order to optimise these journeys, we focus on utilising technology-led processes designed to
streamline customer experiences through automation, simplification and increased efficiency. Through improving
our product offerings and increasing customer and intermediary integration, we intend to improve end-to-end
service and convenience, thereby maximising our conversion rate, while increasing the likelihood of customers
and intermediary partners renewing their business with us – ultimately permitting further growth in our business
operations without a corresponding increase in cost.
Drive long-term value
We strive to create a commercial mindset that is pervasive across the business and focused on identifying and
improving the controls in place to generate income, improve margins and manage cost. First, we identify key
decision points in the business through which money flows. Once identified, we analyse current controls in place,
identify gaps that can be addressed to promote value creation and plan and execute a revitalised approach or
system. In 2019 for example, we have set up a commercial committee composed of senior Executives, we have
centralised our purchasing processes, and we have improved our ability to process documents signed
electronically.
We regularly monitor developments in the insurance premium and service fees financing market, and the actions
of our competitors, in order to ensure that we are strategically positioned to maintain the highest standards for
our customers and create the most value going forward. Furthermore, we regularly liaise and coordinate with our
intermediary partners, leveraging deep knowledge of consumer trends, in order to devise strategies to enhance
our position in the markets in which we operate.
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Reinforce industry leading profile and proposition
We have regularly been recognised as one of the market leading providers of financial services. Our goal is to
continually reinforce and strengthen our market perception and remain the ‘go to’ provider in chosen markets
with clearly articulated propositions for all current and future partners and their customers that are linked to the
frictionless journeys. We are creating a step change in market visibility, thought leadership and partner relations,
particularly partnering with industry bodies.
Further embed a high-performance culture framework
We believe that having a high-performance culture within the business is integral to continued success in the
financial services market overall. Therefore, in addition to focusing on our products and services, we will continue
to focus on our people. We have designed a people framework which is underpinned by our values and behaviours,
which will then drive all of our development programmes, to be available for all employees at all levels. These
behaviours and core competencies are reinforced through reward and recognition programmes, and key
indicators, regularly captured via colleague surveys. We strive to increase employee engagement which we believe
will ultimately improve employee performance and foster the empowerment necessary to develop future leaders
at Premium Credit.
Principles underpinning our strategic priorities
Our priorities are underpinned by five principles which support the business’s growth and ethos; (i) customer and
partner-oriented service and support, (ii) secure technology and physical environment, (iii) regulatory compliant
processes, (iv) strong governance and oversight and (v) robust financial control and funding.
We believe that through prioritising and aligning our practices with these principles, we will continue to strengthen
our industry leading profile. We have maintained and will continue to maintain rigorous internal procedures to
ensure we follow best practices which we believe will allow us to continue to satisfy the applicable compliance
standards and regulatory requirements. We will continue to monitor the actions of our intermediary partners via
our dedicated intermediary management team to ensure their interactions with our customers are ethical, in
compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and consistent with our high standards.
Market impact of Covid-19 pandemic
During the first half of 2020 the outbreak of Covid-19 has caused material disruptions to the UK economy, including
the markets serviced by the Company. We have worked closely with the regulators and industry bodies to take
appropriate actions in order to help those customers that need forbearance. We have also updated our
underwriting processes to take into account specific Covid-19 risks. Demand for premium finance remains strong
with our products providing consumers and SME’s relevant and flexible financing solutions to assist in the
management of their liquidity through this period of economic uncertainty.
The staff of Premium Credit successfully transitioned to a working from home environment during March 2020
and this continues to run smoothly. The Company is well-positioned with strong capital, funding and liquidity
resources.
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Operating for the benefit of all our stakeholders
In accordance with section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the Board manages the needs and concerns of all
stakeholders, as outlined in the following sections, to ensure there is visibility of relevant stakeholder engagement
activities within the boardroom which informs decision-making and the delivery of the Company’s strategy.
The Board’s approach
By understanding the differing needs and concerns of our stakeholders through proactive engagement, the Board
can then ensure careful consideration of the potential impact of their decision-making on each stakeholder group.
Detailed below are the Company’s key stakeholders, their material interests, how we engage with them and key
outcomes delivered for each group in 2019.
Customers
Our aim is to offer a seamless experience to our customers from the moment they select a product offered by one
of our intermediary partners, to the last of their monthly payments, in a regulatory-compliant journey. In 2019 we
delivered an increase in integrated origination capabilities, improved our online self-service capabilities, and
introduced a request for feedback after each interaction with our customer services.
Colleagues
We consider our workforce to be a fundamental asset of the Company, which is critical to the success of the
business. We invest and develop talent and the Board has considered the interest of the employees throughout
the year in key decisions such as realigning functional areas to where they best sit within the operating model.
The Board constantly endorses high values of business conduct, by undertaking activities such as designing,
developing and embedding a competency framework that enables us to achieve superior results, and by aligning
performance and behaviours to purpose, values and core strategic outcomes.
Intermediary partners
Aside from regular meetings, performance reviews and the provision of insights through the use of data analytics,
in 2019 the business engaged external advisors to interview its largest intermediary partners gaining additional
insights into the services the business provides. This information was presented to the Board, allowing it to
consider these findings when determining the strategic priorities of the business during the year.
Shareholders
Our value-creation activities have been updated during the year as Premium Credit continues to reshape itself
through enhanced technology and business processes. The drivers of the value creation processes for our
shareholders come from a commercial mindset that is pervasive across the business; identifying and improving
the controls in place to generate income, improve margins and manage costs, thereby ensuring all sources of value
are protected and well managed.
The business generates long-term value for its shareholders by ensuring all decisions made are aligned to its longterm priorities. The Board ensures this happens through its engagement with the Executive at regular board
meetings and through one to one meetings with members of the Executive.
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Debt investors
The business aims to deliver sustainable returns to its funders. It engages with its investor base through monthly
(for asset-backed securities) or quarterly (for senior notes) reporting, investor presentations and non-deal
roadshows. The senior notes were refinanced over 12 months prior to maturing debt, whilst the business assetbacked securities were extended and increased in an extent commensurate with the growth of our receivables
book.
Regulators
The business works actively with its regulators as well as industry bodies and other relevant stakeholders to ensure
its services remain at the forefront of compliance. In 2019 we continued to refine our approach to affordability in
lending decisions, and introduced compliance with the Senior Managers and Certification regime. Colleagues
receive quarterly compliance training with modules during the year including financial crime, anti-money
laundering & bribery and competition law.
Community
We have an active Corporate Social Responsibility committee of volunteers who meet regularly to discuss
initiatives and to identify opportunities for the Company to deliver economic, social and environmental benefits.
Each year the Company selects local charities to partner with; in 2019 the Company supported Age Concern Epsom
& Ewell and the Samaritans Leatherhead. The Company also supports colleagues who fundraise by matching their
funds and offers a ‘give as you earn’ (GAYE) scheme.
During 2019 we increased our environmental engagement reviewing and updating our processes to improve our
carbon footprint. We have done this by incentivising employees to reduce non-reusable plastics, improving inhouse technologies to cut down on printing and postage, and implemented a monitoring programme for the
reduction of business-related travel.

The Board and its committees are comfortable that all needs and concerns of all stakeholders are managed
effectively and there is visibility of relevant stakeholder engagement activities within the boardroom to inform
decision-making and the delivery of strategy.
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Business Review
Financial Review
The trading performance in 2019 was strong for Premium Credit with Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA
increasing by 10.7%, as the business was able to benefit from the significant investment made over recent years.
Net advances grew 4% year on year, with continued growth in our distribution partners, aided by enhanced
onboarding of new customers in insurance premium finance and new products within specialist lending
(Commuter Club launch and direct tax expansion). Towards the end of 2019, we started initiatives to increase the
penetration of premium finance within existing partners, which we expect to be reflected in 2020 performance.
Interest income growth reflects growth in funded principal balance, partly offset by higher cost of funds due to
base rate rises.
Total income grew 3% year on year, as new facility fees were offset by lower chaser and default fees. However,
the lower chaser and default fees are themselves offset by better credit performance.
Credit performance was, in fact, very strong in 2019, driven by underlying performance (strong underwriting) and
provision releases (effective collections function).
These factors, with control of operating costs, whilst continuing to invest in the business, led to 11% Adjusted PostSecuritisation EBITDA growth.
Company Results
Year ended
31 Dec 2019 1
£m

Year ended
31 Dec 2018
£m

Change

Change

£m

%

Net interest income

94.1

93.9

0.2

0.2%

Expenses 2

71.8

71.4

0.4

0.6%

Operating profit

36.3

33.5

2.8

8.4%

Adjusted Post-Securitisation
EBITDA 3

67.1

60.6

6.5

10.7%

1.

We adopted the requirements of IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, under the modified retrospective approach. Financial year 2018
therefore includes operating lease costs under IAS 17 and Financial year 2019 includes depreciation and interest charges on rightof-use assets and lease liabilities.

2.

Expenses includes administrative expenses and net impairment losses on loans to customers.

3.

Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA is a profit measurement which is not specifically defined under or presented in accordance with IFRS,
or any other Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and that excludes certain non-cash items, non-recurring costs, foreign exchange
gains/losses, tax and interest, other than the interest costs incurred as part of our securitisation programme.

Net interest income
Net interest income comprises interest earned on the Company’s loans to customers less securitisation costs. The
increase for the financial year was due to an increase in the net loans to customers (receivables) of 3.2% at yearend to £1,445.4 million (2018: £1,400.7 million). This was partly offset by higher cost of funds due to base rate
rises.
Expenses
Costs were broadly flat year-on-year, comprising Administrative expenses of £72.9 million (2018: £69.5 million)
and impairment losses of £1.1 million (2018: £1.9 million), with an increase in staff and non-cash (depreciation,
amortisation and foreign exchanges gains/losses) costs of £3.2 million and £4.0 million respectively, offset by a
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£4.5 million decrease in credit losses to £4.8 million (2018: £9.3 million) and cyber costs of £2.4 million seen in the
previous year.
Operating profit
Operating profit is net interest income, net fee and commission expense, less administration expenses. Fee
income was higher year-on-year as a result of an increase in missed payments which reflects the increase in the
costs of processing failed Direct Debit collections.
Reconciliation of IFRS Operating profit to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA
2019

2018

36,304

33,463

81

80

(320)

-

Profit for the year before taxation

36,065

33,543

Interest payable and similar charges¹

20,606

18,888

£’000

Note

Operating profit
Finance income
Finance expense

10

Depreciation and amortisation

8

7,934

6,472

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

8

-

665

Loss on foreign exchange

8

2,846

310

664

504

68,116

60,382

Transaction costs

360

353

Business interruption costs

659

-

New IT initiatives and restructuring costs

13,725

14,111

Adjusted EBITDA

82,860

74,846

(15,753)

(14,285)

67,114

60,561

Refinancing fees
EBITDA

Securitisation interest expense
Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA
Definitions of EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA


EBITDA represents profit for the year before taxation, interest payable and similar charges, depreciation and amortisation; the latter
includes Securitisation Facility fee amortisation. EBITDA is not specifically defined under, or presented in accordance with, IFRS or any
other generally accepted accounting principles and you should not consider it as an alternative to profit for the year or any other
performance measures derived in accordance with IFRS.



Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA as adjusted for certain transaction costs, one-time information technology initiatives and other nonoperating costs including restructuring costs. You should be aware that, as an analytical tool, Adjusted EBITDA is subject to all of the
limitations applicable to EBITDA. the Company may incur expenses similar to the adjustments in this presentation in the future and
certain of these items could be considered recurring in nature. The presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an
inference that the Company’s future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.



Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA represents Adjusted EBITDA less the Securitisation interest expense. In evaluating Adjusted PostSecuritisation EBITDA, the Company encourages you to evaluate each adjustment and the reasons it considers it appropriate as a method
of supplemental analysis. As an analytical tool, Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA is subject to all of the limitations applicable to EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA.

¹ Interest payable and similar charges comprises Interest expense and Finance income and expenses.
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Going concern
The Company’s principal risk stems from the credit quality of loans and advances and the directors review the risks
the Company may face on an ongoing basis. The directors have reviewed forecast cashflows for a period of twelve
months from the date of approval of these financial statements, which take into account the economic conditions
created by the outbreak of Covid-19.
Having reviewed these cash flow forecasts, and taken into account the forecast liquidity and covenant compliance
position of the wider Pomegranate Topco Limited group, the directors have made an assessment of the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied that it has sufficient resources to continue in business for
the foreseeable future.
The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going
concern basis.
Our wider and long-term prospects, together with the sustainability of our business model can be found on page 5
and the risks and mitigating factors the Company faces on page 16.

Non-Financial Review
Leadership
There were a number of changes during the year at the executive level of the business. These included Tara Waite
joining as Chief Executive Officer, Jon Howells as Chief Commercial Officer for premium finance, Owen Thomas as
Chief Sales Officer and Josie Pileio as Chief People Officer & Shared Services Director. This enhanced leadership
team brings with it significant and proven performance management skills, business transformation knowledge
and strategic market expertise.
Average tenure of employees
The average tenure of employees measures the average length of service across the workforce. We are pleased
that the average tenure of 6.2 years in 2019 represents an increase over 2018. Evolution of the organisation design
has continued, through the outsourcing of some operational functions. Voluntary labour turnover reduced
progressively during 2019 resulting in greater levels of stability. Based on tenure at the end of 2019, there is a
good mix of employees with long tenure, and therefore Company experience, and newer colleagues who bring
new skills to the business.
Customer complaints
We maintain two key performance indicators for customer complaints: complaints we receive directly from
customers, which is measured per 100,000 agreements and the number of complaints referred to the Financial
Ombudsman Service (FOS). In 2019, Premium Credit received 342 complaints per 100,000 agreements, an increase
on the 2018 rate of 199 complaints per 100,000 agreements. The uplift followed a change in our internal complaint
process in line with FCA requirements to also manage producer referrals. 46 complaints were made to the FOS
(0.002% of the customer base), of which 30 were upheld in favour of the Premium Credit, four in favour of the
customer, with the remaining twelve awaiting outcome.
The Company remains focused on delivering fair outcomes for all customers and introduced root cause analysis
with corrective action tracking during 2019.
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Key Performance Indicators
Total Income (£m)

Total income comprises interest and
fee income from loans after the
deduction of interest expense on
borrowings
and
commissions
payable.

108.1

104.8

2018

2019

Operating profit measures the
Company’s total revenue less the
total administrative expenses; and
excludes any financing income or
expense.

Operating Profit (£m)
33.5

36.3

2018

2019

New Originations: Net Advances (£m)
3,520

3,376

2018

2019

Average Funded Receivables (£m)

A key gauge of future income and
cash flows is average funded
receivables which measures the
average outstanding funded principal
loan balances for the year.

986
962
2018

2019

Net interest income comprises
interest earned on the Company’s
loans to customers less securitisation
costs.

Net Interest Income (£m)
93.9

94.1

2018

2019

Securitisation facility (£m)

2018
Facility Size £m

988

71%

1,392

978
90%

1,085

Net Advances are a lead indicator of
the future income that will be
generated by the business and is
measured by the total value of loans
originated, net of cancellations and
mid-term adjustments.

Availability of funding to facilitate
growth in the loan book is measured
via the level of utilisation of our
securitisation programme.

2019
Drawn down (% of facility)
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Key Performance Indicators (continued)

Expense to Income Ratio (%)
68%

66%

2018

2019

Credit Quality to Loan loss ratio (%)
0.22%

2018

0.17%

A measure of the credit quality of the
loan book, the loan loss ratio is
calculated as the impairment loss on
customer advances divided by the net
advances in the year.

2019

Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA (£m)
60.6

67.1

2018

2019

Net Loans to Customers (£m)
1,445
1,401

2018

Expense to income ratio is calculated
as total administrative expenses as a
proportion of total income.

Adjusted Post-Securitisation EBITDA
is a profit measurement that excludes
certain non-cash items, non-recurring
costs, foreign exchange gains/losses,
tax and interest, other than the
interest costs incurred as part of our
securitisation programme, which are
considered an operational expense.

Net Loans to Customers measures the
outstanding loan value at the balance
sheet date and is a principal indicator
of future income and cash flows.

2019

Reportable customer complaints per
100,000 loans written measures the
level of complaints normalised for
business
volumes.
This
is
supplemented by the total number of
reportable complaints made to the
Financial Ombudsman (FOS).

Average Tenure of Employees (years)
5.8

6.2

2018

2019

The average tenure of employees is a
measure of the amount of experience
maintained within the organisation.

A number of these measures are not specifically defined under or presented in accordance with IFRS or any other Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and should not be considered as an alternative to profit for the period or any other performance measures derived
in accordance with IFRS. The Board believes that these measures give a rounded indication of the operating performance of Premium
Credit.
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Principal risks and mitigation
The Company is exposed to a variety of risks through its day to day operations. The principal risks and how they
are managed, is detailed below:
Description
Regulatory and Conduct Risk – Fair Outcomes
Conduct Risk is the risk that our operating model or
those of our intermediary partners might lead to
unfair outcomes for our customers.

Regulatory and Conduct Risk – Regulatory
The risk of loss arising from a breach of existing
regulations, failure to implement changes relating
to new legislation or regulation, or the imposition of
adverse future regulatory changes in the markets
the Company operates in.

Operational Risk – System and Process
The risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed
internal processes, systems and from arrangements
with third parties.

Key mitigants
The Company has policies focused on the fair
treatment of customers. We have an Executive Risk
Committee that receives details of all operational risk
incidents that have affected our customers, together
with actions to address any unfairness. In addition, the
Executive Risk Committee focuses on monitoring
detailed metrics that measure customers outcomes. If
any activities are identified that result in unfair
customer outcomes, we are focused on ensuring that
they are addressed as a matter of priority and any
adverse impact is promptly remedied.

The Company has Risk, Compliance and Legal teams
that review key emerging regulatory developments to
assess the impact on the Company. Expert third party
advice is also sought where necessary. The level of
regulatory change has markedly increased from both
the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the Central
Bank of Ireland (CBI), which is requiring additional
drive and investment by the Company. The
Compliance team has developed a formal monitoring
plan which is reviewed by the Executive Risk
Committee and approved by the Board Risk
Committee. All employees are required to undertake
regulatory training.

The management of Operational Risk continues to be
an area of on-going focus., The Company is making
investments in the development of risk management
frameworks, systems and processes, including IT
project management, implementation planning and
cyber-risk management. In addition to this the
Company also has an outsourced Internal Audit
programme which reviews processes undertaken
across the business to provide third party assurance
and monitoring oversight.
Since the outbreak of Covid-19 the Company has
undergone a review and updated all processes
impacted in the move to working from home.
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Principal risks and mitigation (continued)
Description
Operational Risk – Cyber
Given the level of technology driven disruption
being observed across the financial services sector
Cyber security is a key focus for the Company. The
constant threat posed by a cyberattack also directly
impacts the existing risks associated with external
fraud, data loss, data integrity and data accessibility.

Operational Risk – People
The risk of loss arising from manual errors, control
failures or internal / external fraud as a result of high
staff turnover or poorly trained colleagues.

Key mitigants
The Company continues to develop its capability to
prevent, detect, respond and recover from any cyber
threats or attacks. With significant effort being
focused on discharging the Company’s cyber risk
management responsibilities effectively, with ongoing
investment in appropriate technology and processes.
The Company has setup a new cyber security function
for ongoing monitoring of cyber risk. Ensuring that the
staff continue to be ‘cyber aware’ is also a key element
of Company’s defence strategy, with a schedule of
campaigns to drive behavioural change and response
to external attacks.
The Company has introduced additional measures to
ensure its employees and systems are kept safe from
Cyber-attacks, following the changes in working
practises resulting from the Covid-19 outbreak. These
include increased frequency of updating and testing
security controls together with implementing
enhanced cyber intelligence and advanced phishing
controls.

The Company seeks to reduce the turnover by
attracting, retaining and developing staff through
ongoing training and development. In addition,
improvements in the control environment include
focusing on reducing the reliance on individuals
through identification of alternative colleagues with
similar skills and building repeatable processes which
rely less on individuals and more on systems and
identified controls.
The significant investments in the business’s core
systems and infrastructure over the last five years
enabled the business to seamlessly transition over
99% of its workforce to home working at the of end
March this year in response to the Covid-19 lockdown.
The business is conscious that such a significant and
precipitous change in working practises has the
potential to have a detrimental impact on the
wellbeing of colleagues. To ensure this risk is identified
and mitigated as quickly the business is making sure all
colleagues have regular interactions with their line
managers, colleagues and the Human Recourses team
together with receiving consistent communication
across the business on wellbeing issues.
Service and support for our customers, partners and
our other external stakeholders continues to be
uninterrupted and maintained to agreed service
levels. All colleagues have access to our online training
platforms,
ensuring
ongoing
development
opportunities continue, including required compliance
and regulatory training.
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Principal risks and mitigation (continued)
Description
Operational Risk – External
The risk of loss arising from actions taken by or
towards third parties with which the business
interacts.

Financial – Interest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to the risk that interest
rate changes may compromise its profitability.
Specifically, the Company’s net income is
determined by the difference between the interest
rates it lends at and those at which it borrows.
During a period of rising interest rates, the Company
would expect to see some compression in its
margins due to the timing difference between the
repricing of the loans and advances to customers
and its borrowings.
Financial – Liquidity Risk
The risk that the Company will have insufficient
liquidity to fulfil its strategic lending targets and/or
meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

Financial – Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company operates in Ireland as well as the UK
and is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk arising
from currency exposures. Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities.

Key mitigants
The Company continually reviews its risk management
policies and approach to intermediaries and outsource
partners to reflect the regulatory environment in
which the Company operates and to ensure operation
resilience.

The Company has a treasury function responsible for
day to day management and control of its exposure to
interest rate risk. The Asset and Liability Committee
monitors interest rate risk on a monthly basis and
reports to the Executive Risk Committee monthly. The
Company has the ability through contractual rate
ratchets to reprice future lending in the event of rate
rises. The Company’s asset backed funding facilities
are variable rate facilities.

The Company funds its activities through a
securitisation facility under which a Master Trust
funding platform provides access to public markets
funding alongside bank funders.
The Company has modelled the impact of a significant
weakening of the British Pound to the Euro which
could impact the level of securitisation borrowing and
is confident that it does not carry a significant risk in
its liquidity position.
Covid-19 has created an element of volatility in the
Company’s cashflows. In order to mitigate the impact
of this the Company has taken immediate and prudent
actions within its securitisation programme to protect
the business’s liquidity position for the foreseeable
future.

The level of operations in Ireland in relation to the
Company as a whole is such that the foreign exchange
risk is deemed to be acceptable. There are no hedges
in place to mitigate this risk. The Company continues
the monitor the uncertainty around UK withdrawal
from the European Union and its impact on the foreign
exchange risk.
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Principal risks and mitigation (continued)
Description
Credit Risk – Customer
The Company provides finance to individuals, sole
traders, partnerships and limited companies who
typically wish to pay annual payments in monthly
instalments. There is a risk that adverse changes in
the macro economic environment or in the credit
quality of our borrowers may result in additional
impairment losses that could affect financial
performance.

Credit Risk – Counterparty
The Company has a large number of commercial
arrangements with credit intermediaries, who are
the first point of contact when borrowers miss a
payment. These intermediaries may also be service
providers to our borrowers, with the risk of high
cancellations if services are no longer provided. In
addition, in some circumstances we have commercial
arrangements requiring commission payments to be
paid before being collected from the borrower, or
where advance finance commission payments are
being made. These payments can cause an exposure
whilst they are collected from the borrower for the
duration of their loan. In its insurance premium
finance market, the Company is also exposed to the
risk of insolvency of the underlying insurer in relation
to higher cancellations or obtaining return
premiums.

Key mitigants
For our recourse products, Credit Risk is mitigated
through the commercial arrangements that we have
with our credit intermediaries. In circumstances where
a borrower defaults with subsequent termination of
the Credit Agreement, PCL will recover the outstanding
balance from the intermediary partner who introduced
the borrower to PCL, through a deduction from
commission payments.
For our non-recourse products, the Company has credit
and affordability risk assessment / underwriting
policies in place setting out detailed criteria for checks
that must be undertaken before an advance is made.
The credit risk function reports to the Executive Risk
Committee and the Board Risk Committee on the
performance of the Company’s lending portfolios. In
addition, the Company has rigorous and robust
Collections and Recovery processes in place to manage
late payments. The Credit Policy Manual was reviewed
and updated in 2019, to further strengthen current
processes and procedures within the credit risk
function. The credit risk policy has been further
reviewed in 2020 to remain consistent with our
practices and within governance in the light of the
current working and business environment.

The Company operates a process of due diligence in
relation to the intermediaries with whom it enters into
trading relationships. Once a relationship is in place,
there is a continuous monitoring programme that
keeps the financial, regulatory and trading
performance of our intermediaries under regular
review. Where upfront payments are made, these are
subject to a modelling exercise to determine the level
of financial risk that we are prepared to accept from any
given intermediary. For insurers, regular monitoring
and evaluation of exposure and financial condition is
undertaken, especially for unrated insurers. The credit
risk policy was reviewed and updated in 2019 to more
proactively identify and mitigate counterparty risk. The
credit risk policy has been further reviewed in 2020 to
remains consistent with our practices and within
governance in the light of the current working and
business environment.

PAGE 19

Premium Credit Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019

GOVERNANCE: DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their report and audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2019.
Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is the financing and processing of insurance premiums and instalment
services in the UK and Ireland, with our business model outlined on page 5. The Company is incorporated in
England & Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The company also operates through a branch in the
Republic of Ireland.
The sections covering the review of the business, principal risks and uncertainties and KPIs are covered within the
strategic report. The future outlook is covered in the Business model section.
Directors
The Directors who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements, unless
otherwise stated, were:
Name

Title

Colin Keogh

Chairman

Tara Waite

Executive Director (appointed on 23 September 2019)

Thomas Woolgrove

Executive Director (resigned on 7 June 2019)

Andrew Chapman

Executive Director (appointed on 3 January 2019)

David Young

Non-Executive Director

Simon Moran

Non-Executive Director (appointed on 5 July 2019)

Chris Burke

Non-Executive Director (resigned on 31 October 2019)

John Reeve

Non-Executive Director (resigned on 31 October 2019)

Peter Catterall

Investment Director

Maxim Crewe

Investment Director

Anthony Santospirito

Investment Director

Directors’ indemnity and liability insurance
As permitted by the Articles of Association, the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity, which is a qualifying
third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force
throughout the last financial year and is currently still in force. The Company also purchased and maintained
throughout the financial year Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its Directors.
Results
The results for the year are set out in the financial review on page 11.
Dividends
The Company paid dividends of £nil million during 2019 (2018: £50.0 million). No further dividend is proposed.
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Risks
Details of the Company’s risks and mitigating actions can be found on page 16.
Colleagues
The Company recognises that its future success depends on the commitment and performance of its people. The
leadership team are committed to creating a high-performance culture in which colleagues are accountable for
their work whilst feeling engaged and empowered to deliver on their objectives. The Company is committed to
providing the right working environment for people to perform to the best of their abilities.
The Company seeks to operate as a responsible employer, whose corporate values promote standards designed
to help employees conduct their business relationships. It is the Company’s policy to conduct business in an
honest, open and ethical manner, and it has adopted a People Framework to reinforce expected behaviours across
all roles within the Company. To assist in reinforcing these governing principles, the Company has policies
supportive of equal opportunities and diverse working environment, with a focus on the health and safety of
employees. The Company categorically condemns all instances of bribery and corruption, harassment, bullying
and discrimination.
Key people initiatives from 2019 include:
•

A key focus for 2019 has been to develop a People Framework which will be the centre of all people
related systems, tools and processes across the Company. The People Framework has been built on three
core components which will are essential factors in building a high performing culture. It consists of the
Company Values, the Conduct Rules (as governed by the FCA) and a set of Leadership Competencies (in
the process of being developed).

•

The Company’s management programme, which began in 2017, continued through 2019 and to date,
over 90 managers or aspiring managers have now completed the modular programme. A restructure of
the HR Team through 2019, resulted in the introduction of a centralised Learning and Development team,
who are redesigning a comprehensive and inclusive set of development programs based on the newly
designed People Framework. In addition to maintaining comprehensive Leadership programs, it will also
focus on compliance and Premium Credit core training, competency-based training and modular training
for all levels of the organisation.

The Company consults employees or their representatives on a regular basis so that the views of employees can
be taken into account in making decisions that are likely to affect their interests. The Company provides regular
updates to employees via a variety of forums to ensure there is a common awareness of all employees in relation
to the financial and economic factors that affect the performance of the company.
Equality and diversity
The Company is committed to promoting equality and policies and processes follow best practice on equal
opportunities for all employees. Decisions about recruitment, selection, training, promotion or any other aspect
relating to a person’s employment with the Company are made regardless of gender, sexual orientation, disability,
marital status, age, race, religious or political beliefs.
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Composition of the workforce
The Company is committed to attracting, developing and retaining the best talent in order to achieve its strategic
objectives. Internal communications have been enhanced providing more detailed information and understanding
for staff on the progress and development of the Company. Staff engagement has been increased through the
implementation of agreed actions. The Company is committed to employment policies which follow best practice
on equal opportunities for all employees, irrespective of gender, sexual orientation, disability, marital status, age
race, religious or political beliefs. The Company gives full and fair consideration to applications for employment
from disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities. Appropriate arrangements are
made for the continued employment and training, career development and promotion of disabled persons
employed by the Company. If members of staff become disabled, the Company continues employment, either in
the same or an alternative position, with appropriate retraining being given if necessary.
The Company has over 400 employees working in the UK and Ireland. The below table shows the gender diversity
at the end of the year:
2019

2018

Men

Women

Men

Women

The Board

88%

12%

100%

-

Senior Management

82%

18%

84%

16%

Other Employees

53%

47%

53%

47%

Total

56%

44%

54%

46%

In early 2020, the Company published its gender pay gap report. The table below shows the overall mean and
median gender pay gap based on hourly rates of pay at the snapshot date (5 April 2019). It also captures the mean
and median difference between bonuses paid to men and women in the year up to 5 April 2019, i.e. for the 2018
performance year (bonuses are normally paid in February).

Hourly rate (this is a prescribed
calculation based on fixed pay)
Bonus amount

Difference between men and
women
Mean

Difference between men
and women
Median

41.5%
66.3%

41.9%
51.5%

Note: The calculation behind the gender pay gap is not the same as equal pay.

The underlying reason behind the gender pay gap is predominantly due to the lower representation of women in
senior leadership positions and IT roles within the business. The bonus gap is also affected by lower representation
of women in sales roles. The Company has processes and practices in place to ensure see people are not being
paid differently due to their gender.
The Company pays equal pay for equal work and therefore addressing the gender pay gap is about increasing the
proportion of women in more highly paid roles. The mean gender pay gap of hourly rate has reduced by 3.42%,
the median gender pay gap of hourly rate has reduced by 2.6%, the mean bonus pay gap has increased by 1.3%
and the median bonus pay gap has reduced by 7.5%.
Although the results of the Premium Credit gender pay gap results have improved from last year, we recognise
that significant improvements are required as we continue to reduce the gap and seek to enhance the experience
of all our employees in respect of equality, diversity and inclusion.
Diversity metrics are included in quarterly MI provided to the Executive committee each month, highlighting the
importance of monitoring and measuring PCL’s workforce composition.
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Human Rights
The Company respects human rights as defined under the European Convention on Human Rights.
The Company published its statement on Modern Slavery during 2018 in accordance with the requirements of the
Modern Slavery Act 2015. There have been no alleged breaches of the Modern Slavery Act during 2019.
Health and safety policy
The Company’s health and safety policy is designed to maintain a healthy and safe working environment, and to
ensure the health, safety and welfare of all its employees and the general public. The Health and Safety Policy is
regularly reviewed and updated as required. The Chief People Officer Chairs the Committee, ensuring the
proactive approach to Safety and Wellbeing in the workplace. There were no significant incidents in the workplace
during 2019.
Employee relations
The Company seeks to operate as a responsible employer and has adopted corporate values to promote standards
designed to help employees in their conduct with one another and business relationships. Policies in place support
equal opportunities and diversity, health and safety, and anti-bribery and corruption.
It is the Company’s policy to conduct business in an honest, open and ethical manner. A zero-tolerance approach
is taken to bribery and corruption, harassment, bullying and discrimination.
The Company operates competitive reward and benefit programmes, offers appropriate training and personal
development programmes, and encourages the recognition of outstanding performance. The Company embraces
continuous development of individuals and teams and provides schemes to enable all staff to participate directly
in the success of the Company.
The Company has an established whistleblowing framework which enables employees to raise issues when they
feel it is appropriate, and which ensures that no employee making such disclosure will suffer any consequent
disadvantage. There were no whistleblowing incidents during the year 2019.
Research and development
The Company undertakes research and development on its IT systems to enhance its service offerings. Disclosure
of the expenditure and capitalisation of development costs in the year may be found in note 12 to the financial
statements.
Supplier payment policy
The Company agrees appropriate terms and conditions individually with its suppliers. It seeks to abide by these
terms provided that the supplier has also done so.
Donations
During the year the Company donated £11,269 (2018: £12,000) to charitable causes.
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Post balance sheet events
During the first half of 2020 the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic caused material disruption to the UK economy,
including the markets serviced by the Company. As of the balance sheet date it was not known how severe the
economic impact of Covid-19 would be as most of the cases were then in Asia, where the Company does not
operate. In accordance with IAS 10 Events after the reporting period, the directors therefore consider this outbreak
to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event as at 31 December 2019.
The impact of the pandemic on the Company in the first half of 2020 has been primarily as a result of forbearance
requests from customers. The directors have worked closely with the Company’s regulators, partners and industry
bodies to manage this process in a proactive manner and will continue to do so. The Company is well-positioned
with strong capital, funding and liquidity resources, and it aims to ensure that this remains the case. The directors
acknowledge the likelihood of a financial impact to the Company over the next financial year; however, this will
require assessment once the long-term economic impact of Covid-19 is clearer.
There were no other post balance sheet events.
Future outlook
Information on the Company’s future developments can be found in the Strategic report.
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LIMITED

PAGE 27

Premium Credit Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019

Company Number: 2015200

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also
to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors' report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors' report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 26, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:


we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or



adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or



certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or



the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Simon Bailey (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
30 July 2020
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INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Interest income

114,441

112,891

Interest expense

(20,367)

(18,968)

Notes

Net interest income

5

94,074

93,923

Fee income

6

17,764

14,973

Commission expense

7

(3,723)

(4,067)

108,115

104,829

Total income
Administrative expenses

8

(72,914)

(69,467)

Net Impairment losses on Loans to customers

14

1,103

(1,899)

Operating profit

8

36,304

33,463

81

80

Finance expense

(320)

-

Profit before tax

36,065

33,543

(985)

(1,730)

35,080

31,813

Finance income

Income tax expense
Profit for the financial year

10

There is no material difference between the above results and their historical cost equivalents.
Results relate to continuing operations.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Profit for the financial year

35,080

31,813

Other comprehensive income
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the
income statement:
Foreign currency translation (losses)/gains

(1,703)

379

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

(1,703)

379

Total comprehensive income for the year

33,377

32,192
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

£’000

Notes

Retained
Earnings

Other
Reserves

Total
Equity

10

181,005

1,244

182,259

Profit for the financial year

-

31,813

-

31,813

Foreign currency translation gains

-

-

379

379

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

31,813

379

32,192

-

(50,000)

-

(50,000)

10

162,818

1,623

164,451

Profit for the financial year

-

35,080

-

35,080

Foreign currency translation losses

-

-

(1,703)

(1,703)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

-

35,080

(1,703)

33,377

-

-

-

-

10

197,898

(80)

197,828

A 1 January 2018

Called up
Share
Capital

Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid

20

At 31 December 2018

Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid
At 31 December 2019

20
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Premium Credit Limited (‘the Company’) is a private limited company, limited by shares, which provides
instalment finance solutions for services such as insurance and school fees in the UK and Ireland. The Company
is incorporated in England & Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office
is: Ermyn House, Ermyn Way, Leatherhead, England, KT22 8UX.
The Company has a branch in Republic of Ireland.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies and methods of computation are consistent with those applied in the 2018 Annual
Report and Accounts with the exception of new accounting policies. IFRS 16 Leases and IFRIC 23 Uncertainty
over Income Tax Treatments, which were both adopted in 1 January 2019.
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases and requires the Company to recognise right-of-use assets and related lease
liabilities in connection with operating leases. The new standard has been applied using the modified
retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 being recognised in equity as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for the current year. Further detail of the new
accounting policy applied and the impact of transition to IFRS 16 can be found in Notes 13 and 30.
IFRIC 23 provides requirements that add to the requirements in IAS 12 Income Taxes by specifying how to reflect
the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes. The interpretation is to be applied to the
determination of taxable profits (losses), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. This
interpretation has not had a material impact on the financial statements of the Company.
A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below.
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Premium Credit Limited have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101). The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention modified to include the fair valuation of particular financial instruments, to the
extent required or permitted as set out in the relevant accounting policies and in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, as applicable to companies using FRS 101.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under s.400 of the Companies Act 2006 not to prepare
Company financial statements as it is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mizzen Mezzco Limited.
The following exemptions from the requirements of FRS 101 have been applied in the preparation of these
financial statements, in accordance with FRS 101:




The requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment.
The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
The requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED


The requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present comparative
information in respect of:
Paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1;
Paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;
Paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets;



The requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134
to 136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.



The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.



The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors.



The requirements of paragraphs 17 of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.



The requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into
between two or more members of a Company.



The requirements of paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130(f)(iii), 134(d) to 134(f) and 135(c) to 135(e) of IAS 36
Impairment of Assets, provided that equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements of the Company in which the entity is consolidated.

(b) Going concern
The Company’s principal risk stems from the credit quality of loans and advances and the directors review the
risks the Company may face on an ongoing basis. The directors have reviewed forecast cashflows for a period of
twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements, which take into account the economic
conditions created by the outbreak of Covid-19.
Having reviewed these cash flow forecasts, and taken into account the forecast liquidity and covenant
compliance position of the wider Pomegranate Topco Limited group, the directors have made an assessment of
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied that it has sufficient resources to continue
in business for the foreseeable future.
The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going
concern basis.
(c) Net interest income recognition
Interest income and expense for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost are recognised using the
effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability (or Company of financial assets or liabilities) and of recognising the interest income or interest expense
over the expected life of the asset or liability. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash flows to the instrument’s initial carrying amount. Calculation of the effective interest rate
takes into account fees receivable that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, early redemption fees and
transaction costs. All contractual and behavioural terms of a financial instrument are considered when
estimating future cash flows.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
(d) Fee and commission income recognition
Fees in respect of services are recognised on an accrual basis when the service to the customer has been
provided. The arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the
service is rendered. The price is fixed and always determinable. The Company generates fees from the financing
of insurance policies and other instalment services underwritten or delivered by third party insurers or suppliers.
This is based on fee rates that are independent of the profitability of the underlying insurance policies or fee
plan.
(e) Taxation
Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted as at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its
branches operate and generate taxable income.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance
sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more,
or a right to pay less or to receive more tax in the future, with the following two exceptions:
1.

Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends
have been accrued as receivable; and

2.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely
than not that there will be sufficient taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in
which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.
(f) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. All monetary
assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into Pounds Sterling at rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the financial year. Differences between the translated transactions and subsequent cash
settlements, or related translated balances, are taken to the income statement.
The balance sheets for foreign operations are consolidated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. The income statement accounts are consolidated using the average rate for the year. The exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of opening net assets are taken directly to reserves.
The Company’s foreign operations may have different functional currencies. Prior to consolidation the assets
and liabilities of non-Sterling operations are translated at the period end exchange rate and items of income,
expense and other comprehensive income are translated into Sterling at the rate on the date of the transactions.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign operations are included in the foreign currency
translation reserve within equity.
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(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks.
(h) Financial instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has three core areas: Classification and Measurement; Hedge Accounting; and
Impairment.
Financial assets
Financial assets comprise cash and bank balances, loans to customers and other receivables.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets are classified into one of three measurement categories:
(a) amortised cost;
(b) fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
(c) fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).
Classification is based on the objectives of the Company’s business model for managing its financial assets and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instruments.
(a) Amortised cost
Financial assets that are held to collect contractual cash flows and where contractual terms comprise solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) are classified at amortised cost. This category includes Company’s loan
portfolios and cash and bank balances within a ‘hold to collect’ business model.
Financial assets at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value, including direct and incremental
transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance. Interest income is
included in ‘interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.
(b) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Financial assets held in a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and where contractual terms comprise solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value, including direct and incremental transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement is at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in other comprehensive
income, with the exception of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses
on the instruments amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in ‘interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in ‘Fair value gains/losses on financial instruments.
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(c) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL on initial recognition
and at each reporting date.
Any gain or loss on an asset that is subsequently measured at FVTPL, and is not part of a hedging relationship, is
recognised in profit or loss and presented in the profit or loss statement within ‘fair value gains/losses on
financial instruments’. Interest income from these financial assets is included separately in ‘net interest income’.
Financial liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortised costs with any difference between
cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an
effective interest basis. The Company does not hold any financial liabilities classified as held for trading.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. To the extent that there is no evidence that it
is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Expected Credit Loss)
The Company assesses all financial assets and off-balance sheet commitments for impairment at each reporting
date. For the Company, this is primarily loans to customers. Under IFRS 9 a ‘three-stage’ model for calculating
Expected Credit Losses (ECL) is used, and is based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarised below:






Stage 1: When a financial asset is first recognised it is assigned to Stage 1. If there is no ‘significant
increase in credit risk’ from initial recognition the financial asset remains in Stage 1. Stage 1 also
includes financial assets where the credit risk has improved and the financial asset has been reclassified
back from Stage 2. For financial assets in Stage 1 a ‘12-month ECL’ is recognised.
Stage 2: When a financial asset shows a ‘significant increase in credit risk’ from initial recognition it is
moved to Stage 2. Stage 2 also includes financial assets where the credit risk has improved and the
financial asset has been reclassified back from Stage 3. For financial assets in Stage 2 a ‘lifetime ECL’ is
recognised.
Stage 3: When there is objective evidence of impairment and the financial asset is considered to be in
default, or otherwise credit impaired, it is moved to Stage 3. For financial assets in Stage 3 a ‘lifetime
ECL’ is recognised.

In relation to the above:



‘Lifetime ECL’ is defined as ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.
‘12-month ECL’ is defined as the portion of the lifetime ECL that will result if a default occurs in the
12 months after the reporting date, weighted by the probability of that default occurring.

On an ongoing basis, the Company assesses whether there has been a change in credit quality and where
necessary financial assets are then moved through the stages accordingly as outlined below:
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Significant increase in credit risk assessment– movement to Stage 2:
A ‘significant increase in credit risk’ (SICR) is not a defined term, and is determined by Management, based on
their experience and judgement. The majority of Company’s loans are short term agreements of less than 12
months. Based on its historical experience of performance of those loans and due to its short-term exposure, it
applies a conservative approach for measuring SICR, a principle called ‘one day one penny overdue’ which
means a loan account which is past due by one day is an indicator of significant increase in credit risk. Since the
majority of Company’s customers pay by direct debit and the loans are only for a short period, it believes that
for a customer to miss a payment or to be in arrears, provides a strong indication of ‘significant increase in
credit risk’ (excluding cases where the payment is delayed due to technical reasons). For recourse loans the
Company has the right of automatic recovery from the intermediary and therefore, these loans remain in
Stage 1.
Default – movement to Stage 3:
A financial asset will only be considered credit impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment, including
financial assets that are defaulted or 90 days past due. Where a financial asset is classified as credit impaired it
will be moved into Stage 3.
Loans are considered to be defaulted where the borrower is in breach of contract, is bankrupt, or experiences
other significant financial difficulties which are expected to have a detrimental impact on their ability to pay
interest or principal on the advance. The Company refers to these kinds of loans as ‘terminated agreement’. In
addition to the qualitative factors, the loans have to be at least 30 days past due to fall into termination category.
When loans are identified as credit impaired, interest income is calculated at amortised cost on the net carrying
value of the loan (carrying value net of the impairment provision) in line with the requirements of IFRS 9.
Improvement (movement back to a lower stage):
The loans in Stage 2 are assumed to be cured when the payments are up to date. These accounts are no longer
included as ‘one day one penny overdue’ when the data is refreshed at month end.
The loans in Stage 3 do not cure as they are classed as ‘terminated agreements’. Based on the Company’s
historical experience these loans do not cure from default status as the Company will have already started
recovery procedures.
Write off
The Company writes off loans when they are 180 days past due.
Calculation of Expected Credit Losses (ECL)
Nearly all the loans the Company writes have a term of less than 12 months. At 31 December 2019, 99.8% of the
outstanding loans had a remaining life of 12 months or less. As a result of this the calculation methodology for
the 12 months and lifetime ECL are broadly the same. The calculation is based on historical loss rates where
each division’s loans are analysed independently, and the average historical loss rate calculated based on the
incurred loss data. The Company considers this to be the Probability of Default.
The Probability of Default is applied to balances in each Stage to derive the ECL.

PAGE 37

Premium Credit Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019

Company Number: 2015200
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Since the loans are mainly unsecured, the only factor that reduces the loss to the Company (loss given default)
is when there are recourse arrangements with intermediaries (such as brokers and insurance companies). For
recourse books, the ECL calculation also factors in any expected recoveries from intermediaries in case of a
default by the customers. Theses recoveries are adjusted by any probability of failure of the intermediary
themselves.
Due to the short term nature of the products offered by the Company, there is a weak correlation between the
performance of the portfolio and macroeconomic lead indicators. As a result, the Company does not use multiple
economic scenarios in assessing the Probability of Default at each impairment stage and expects the impact of
this to be immaterial on overall impairment calculation.
(j) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise an asset and settle a liability simultaneously.
(k) Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment when there are indications that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If an asset’s carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount it is written
down immediately. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that have suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date except for goodwill.
(l) Property, plant and equipment
Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items. Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Company. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the costs less residual
value over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation commences on the date that the asset is brought into use.
Work in Progress assets are not depreciated until they are brought into use and transferred to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment. Estimated useful lives for property, plant and equipment are:
Equipment

3 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements

10 to 20 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included
in administrative expenses in the income statement.
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Leased assets
Leases in the prior period where the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Property acquired via a finance lease is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its
fair value and present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
Leases, in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(m) Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straightline basis over their estimated useful lives.
Internally generated intangible assets
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Expenditure incurred on the development of software is capitalised
only if the following criteria are met:


Technical feasibility has been demonstrated;



The intention to complete development project is demonstrable (e.g. allocated budgets and resources,
BOD approval);



Management is satisfied with the ability to use or sell the results of the project;



It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits (e.g. existence of the market
for the results of the project);



Adequate technical, financial or other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
software are available; and



The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Only the costs that are directly attributable to generating the intangible assets are capitalised.
The following costs are not capitalised: Operational, General and Administration overheads, annual software
licences, training, legal and professional fees related to disputes with suppliers.
Following the initial recognition of impairment expenditure, the cost is amortised over the estimated useful lives
of the assets created. Amortisation commences on the date that the asset is brought into use. As assets
categorised as Assets under construction/Work in progress are brought into use the assets are transferred to
the appropriate classification within intangible assets. The estimated useful lives for such assets is:
Capitalised development costs/software

3 to 5 years
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(n) Employee benefits
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income
statement as incurred.
(o) Provisions for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it
is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can
be reliably estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected expenditure required to settle the obligation. A
contingent liability is a possible obligation that is dependent on the outcome of uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Company, or a present obligation where an outflow of resources is not likely or
the amount cannot be reliably measured.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources is remote.
(p) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Preference shares may be classified as equity or debt regarding their
characteristics.
(q) Dividends
Dividends paid are reported in equity in the period they are approved by the Company’s Board.
(r) Investments
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are held at historical cost less any applicable provision
for impairment.
(s) Pension Costs
The Company participates in a defined contribution pension scheme operated by an independent fund manager.
Contributions are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Company.
(t) Future accounting pronouncements
A number of new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been issued by the IASB,
which are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Company. These are set out below:
•

Definition of Material – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020)

The IASB has made amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors which use a consistent definition of materiality throughout
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, clarify when
information is material and incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information.
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In particular, the amendments clarify:
that the reference to obscuring information addresses situations in which the effect is similar to
omitting or misstating that information, and that an entity assesses materiality in the context of the
financial statements as a whole, and
the meaning of ‘primary users of general-purpose financial statements’ to whom those financial
statements are directed, by defining them as ‘existing and potential investors, lenders and other
creditors’ that must rely on general purpose financial statements for much of the financial information
they need.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The reported results of the Company are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that
underlie the preparation of its financial statements. The Company’s principal accounting policies are set out in
this document. United Kingdom company law and FRS 101 require the Directors, in preparing the Company’s
financial statements, to select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent. Where accounting standards are not specific and management have
to choose a policy, IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors requires them to adopt
policies that will result in relevant and reliable information in the light of the requirements and guidance in IFRS
dealing with similar and related issues and the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements. The judgements and estimates involved in the Company’s accounting policies that are considered
to be the most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below. The use of estimates,
assumptions or models that differ from those adopted by the Company would affect its reported results.
Critical Accounting estimates
(a) Expected credit losses on financial assets
The measurement of Expected Credit Losses (‘ECL’) under IFRS 9 requires a number of significant estimates. ECL
calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying estimates regarding the choice of
variable inputs and their interdependencies. Specifically, estimation uncertainties relate to the assessment of
whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, incorporation of
forward-looking information in the measurement of ECL and key estimates for the recoverable cash flows. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors that are subject to change which may result in different levels of
ECL allowances.
The calculation of ECL and the associated areas estimated are detailed in Note 2 (j).
(b) Effective interest rate
In calculating the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, the Group takes into account all amounts that
are integral to the yield. In the case of loans to customers future cash flows and the expected average life of
customer debt balances are estimated. A change in the estimate of any of the key variables in this calculation
has the potential to significantly impact income recognised in the consolidated income statement.
(c) Impairment of assets
FRS 101 requires management to undertake an annual test for impairment test for assets with finite lives, to
test for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not
be recoverable.
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Impairment testing is an area involving management estimates, requiring assessment as to whether the carrying
value of assets can be supported by the fair value less costs to sell or net present value of future cash flows
derived from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate. In
calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain estimates have been made in respect of highly
uncertain matters including management’s expectations of growth and discount rates. Changing the estimates
selected by management could significantly affect the Company’s impairment evaluation and hence results. The
company’s review includes the key assumptions related to sensitivity in the cash flow projections.
(d) Fair values estimation for financial instruments
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
Short term receivables and payables, deemed to be one year or less, are measured at original invoice amount.
(e) Other provisions
The nature and complexity of the Company’s contractual arrangements can often mean uncertain positions arise
as a result of its normal trading activities. A provision is recognised when the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions
are determined by discounting the expected, risk adjusted, future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free
rate. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Company’s liability. These estimates are reviewed each year and updated as necessary.
Other estimates, assumptions and judgements are applied by the Company. These estimates, assumptions and
judgements are also evaluated on a continual basis but are not significant.
Critical Accounting judgements
(f) Development costs
The Company has capitalised internally generated intangible assets as required in accordance with
IAS 38 Intangible Assets. Management has applied judgement in determining that software development
activities in the course of construction will result in a deployable system. The recoverable amount of the assets
has been determined based on value in use calculations which require the use of judgements.
(g)

Going concern

In order to assess whether it is appropriate for the Company financial statements to be prepared using the going
concern basis of preparation, the directors have applied judgement, having undertaken appropriate enquiries
and having considered the business activities and the Company’s principal risks and uncertainties.
In particular, the directors have assessed the potential impact of the outbreak of the novel coronavirus in 2019
on the securitisation programme’s SPV entities and believe any anticipated impact on the Company will not
prevent the Company from continuing as a going concern for the foreseeable future and for a period of at least
12 months from the date of approval of these financial statement.
The directors note that the SPV entities have been structured to be insolvency remote from Premium Credit,
and neither Premium Credit nor any associated body thereof owns directly or indirectly any shares of the SPVs.
As such, the parties to the securitisation programme (the SPVs, the Trustees and Premium Credit) have agreed
that its recourse should be limited to its available assets. Therefore, the extent that Covid-19 has an impact on
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the receivables allocated to its trust interest (which results in a shortfall in the SPV’s available funds) will
ultimately result in losses for the noteholders and not the Company.
Having taken into account the above, together with the cashflow forecasts and forecast covenant compliance of
the Company and Group, and, the directors are satisfied that at the date of approval of the financial statements
the Company will have sufficient resources available to it to continue as a going concern for a period of at least
12 months.

4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The company operates in one class of business, namely the financing of insurance premiums and instalment
services, and in one geographical area, Europe. Accordingly, a segmental analysis of the Company's business is
not provided.

5. NET INTEREST INCOME
2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Interest receivable on:
Interest income on loans to customers Earned service fee income
Cost of sales: incentives
Interest income

118,285
(3,844)
114,441

114,934
(2,043)
112,891

Interest payable on:
Amounts owed to related party
Interest expense

(20,367)
(20,367)

(18,968)
(18,968)

94,074

93,923

Net interest income

Interest payable on amounts owed to related party is LIBOR linked interest payable to PCL Asset Trustee Limited,
the special purpose securitisation vehicle.

6. FEE INCOME

Servicing and administration fees
Fee and commission income

2019
£’000
17,764
17,764

2018
£’000
14,973
14,973

The costs associated with Servicing and administration fees income are primarily included in administrative
expenses. See Note 8 for an analysis of the Company’s administrative expenses.
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7. COMMISSION EXPENSE
2019
£’000
3,723
3,723

2018
£’000
4,067
4,067

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Staff costs:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Total staff costs

23,799
3,358
1,472
28,629

21,951
3,342
1,301
26,594

Non-staff costs:
Other administration costs
IT related expenditure
Non-recurring costs¹
Foreign currency loss
Depreciation and amortisation
Amounts written off on loans to customers
Total non-staff costs

19,069
7,879
659
2,846
7,934
5,898
44,285

16,869
9,005
2,802
310
6,472
7,415
42,873

Total administrative expenses

72,914

69,467

Fees and commission expense
Fee and commission expense
Commission expense primarily relates to costs payable to our partners.

8. OPERATING PROFIT
Administrative Expenses

¹ Non-recurring expenditure associated with responding to the cyber incident in September 2018. The Company
has made a claim against its cyber insurance policy. The expected recovery from it cannot be reliably measured
at the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore has not been recognised.
Operating profit is stated after charging:

Operating lease rentals
Depreciation charge on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Note 12 and 13)
Amortisation charge on intangible assets (Note 11)
Impairment of loans to customers
IT related expenditure
Loss on disposal of assets

2019
£’000
102

2018
£’000
970

2,099

1,192

5,834
4,795
7,879
-

5,280
9,314
9,005
665
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Impairments of loans to customers

Movement in expected credit losses/impairment allowance
(Note 14)
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible, net of
recoveries
Impairment of loans to customers

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

(1,103)

1,899

5,898

7,415

4,795

9,314

8. OPERATING PROFIT CONTINUED
Auditors’ remuneration
The Company paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements of
the Company and for other services provided.
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit services
Audit related services
Other assurance services
Total auditors’ remuneration

2019
£’000
309
77
196
582

2018
£’000
283
75
358

The above fees for audit services are borne by PCL and include all Pomegranate Topco Limited consolidated
entities.
Employees
During 2019, the Company employed all of the personnel (including Directors) of the Company. The average
monthly number of employees (including executive Directors) employed by the Company during the year was
392 (2018: 410). All employees are engaged in the financing of insurance premiums and instalment services and
are split into the following functions:

Operations
General and administration
Sales and marketing
Average monthly number of employees

2019
Number
165
173
54
392

2018
Number
162
165
83
410

The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme on behalf of its qualifying employees. There were
no outstanding or prepaid pension contributions at the balance sheet date.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of the Directors paid by the Company during the year was as follows:

Aggregate emoluments
Total emoluments

2019

2018

£’000

£’000

2,407
2,407

2,022
2,022

Directors emoluments include amounts paid or accrued in respect of Premium Credit Limited, Mizzen Mezzco
Limited and Pomegranate Topco Limited Directors. The costs of Directors’ emoluments are borne by Premium
Credit Limited.
No retirement benefits are accruing to Directors (2018: £nil) under the Company’s defined contribution pension
scheme.
The total emoluments of the highest paid Director were £0.7 million (2018: £0.9 million) which includes payment
in lieu of notice £0.5 million (2018: nil). No contributions were made in respect of money purchase schemes to
the highest paid director (2018: £nil).

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense

Current tax expense - current year
Current tax (credit) - prior year
Total current tax

2019
£’000
1,085
(363)
722

2018
£’000
1,427
(126)
1,301

Deferred tax credit - current year
Deferred tax (credit)/expense - prior year
Total deferred tax

(130)
71
(59)

(111)
(52)
(163)

Foreign tax
Total foreign tax

322
322

592
592

Total tax expense

985

1,730

On 11 March 2020 it was announced (and substantively enacted on 17 March 2020) that the UK corporation tax
rate would remain at 19% and not reduce to 17% (the previously enacted rate) from 1 April 2020. The deferred
tax balances included within the accounts have been calculated with reference to the rate of 17%, as required
under FRS 101. However, following the substantive enactment of the rate of 19%, it is anticipated that the
reversal of any temporary differences will occur at this rate and that the maximum impact on the quantum of
the net deferred tax asset recognised will be £57k.
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Company Number: 2015200

INCOME TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED

Factors affecting the total tax charge / (credit) for the year are explained below:

Profit before taxation
Profit multiplied by tax rate in the UK of 19.00% (2018: 19.00%)

2019
£’000
36,065
6,852

2018
£’000
33,543
6,373

Factors affecting expense for the year:
Tax exempt income
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Adjustment to prior years – current tax
Adjustment to prior years – deferred tax
Effects of rate change
Double tax relief
Overseas tax
Effect of group relief
Total tax expense

(8)
196
(363)
71
19
(322)
322
(5,782)
985

(42)
277
(126)
(52)
17
(592)
592
(4,717)
1,730

Assets under
construction
£’000
6,087

Software

Total

£’000
6,562

£’000
12,649

6,087
4,091
(7,609)

18,344
61
7,609

24,431
4,152
-

2,569

26,014

28,583

-

11,782
5,834

11,782
5,834

2,569

17,616
8,398

17,616
10,967

11.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Net carrying value at 31 December 2018
Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions
Transfers
At 31 December 2019
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2019
Net carrying value at 31 December 2019

Assets under construction relate to internally developed software. The Directors have reviewed the assets for
impairment and identified £nil million of assets which are impaired (2018: £nil million). Intangible assets
amortisation is recorded in the administrative expenses in the income statement.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
improvements
£’000
2,306

Equipment

Total

£’000
1,460

£’000
3,766

Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions
At 31 December 2019

2,872
2,872

5,327
215
5,542

8,199
215
8,414

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2019
Net carrying value at 31 December 2019

566
287
853
2,019

3,867
803
4,670
872

4,433
1,090
5,523
2,891

Net carrying value at 31 December 2018

See Note 22 for contractual commitments on capital expenditure.

13.

LEASES

a) Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Buildings
Vehicles
Right-of-use assets

Buildings
Vehicles
Lease obligations

31 Dec 2019
£’000
5,612
320
5,932

1 Jan 2019
£’000
6,433
258
6,691

5,764
295
6,059

6,433
258
6,691

In the previous year, the Company only recognised lease assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases that
were classified as ‘finance leases’ under IAS 17 Leases. The assets were presented in property, plant and
equipment and the liabilities as part of the Company’s borrowings. For adoption of IFRS16 Leases on 1 January
2019, please refer to Note 30.
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2019 financial year were £0.3 million.
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Company Number: 2015200

LEASES CONTINUED

b) Amounts recognised in the Income Statement
The Income Statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Buildings
Vehicles
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Interest expense (included in Finance expense)
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in administrative
expenses
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not shown
above as short-term leases (included in administrative expenses)
The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was £1.2 million.

31 Dec 2019
£’000
821
188
1,009

1 Jan 2019
£’000
-

320

-

28

-

-

-

c) The Company’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for
The Company leases buildings and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 6 months
to 8 years. Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of property for which the Company is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
Until the end of the 2018 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either
finance leases or operating leases, see note 30 for details. From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Company.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:
 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date
 amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees
 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option,
and
 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising
that option.
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Company Number: 2015200

LEASES CONTINUED

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company:
 where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;
 uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Company, which does not have recent third-party financing; and
 makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example term, country, currency and security.
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
 any initial direct costs; and
 restoration costs.
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.
d) Residual value guarantees
To optimise lease costs during the contract period, the Company sometimes provides residual value
guarantees in relation to vehicle leases.
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LOANS TO CUSTOMERS

Gross loans to customers
Less: allowance for impairment
Net loans to customers

31 Dec 2019
£’000
1,450,769
(5,320)
1,445,449

31 Dec 2018
£’000
1,407,099
(6,423)
1,400,676

1,441,869
3,580

1,397,547
3,129

Split as:
Current
Non-current

At 31 December 2019, £1,049.5 million (2018: £1,033.9 million) of loans to customers had beneficial interest
assigned to SPV entities as collateral for securitisation transactions.;
The following table shows impairment provisions for loans:
2019
£’000
6,423
(1,103)
5,320

1 January
Charge to the income statement for impairment losses
At 31 December

2018
£’000
4,524
1,899
6,423

The table below shows stage allocation of Company’s loans, allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) together
with ECL coverage ratio:
At 31 December 2019
Loans to customers (£’000)
Allowance for ECL (£’000)
Coverage ratio (%)

At 31 December 2018
Loans to customers (£’000)
Allowance for ECL (£’000)
Coverage ratio (%)

Stage 1
1,437,102
3,095
0.2%

Stage 1
1,396,336
4,057
0.3%

Stage 2
9,104
633
7.0%

Stage 2
5,647
482
8.5%

Stage 3
4,563
1,592
34.9%

Stage 3
5,116
1,884
36.8%

Total
1,450,769
5,320
0.4%

Total
1,407,099
6,423
0.5%
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15. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Amounts due from Group undertakings
Prepayments and accrued income
Prepayments and other receivables

2019
£’000
82,581
11,718
94,299

2018
£’000
68,736
11,722
80,458

Split as:
Current
Non-current

85,450
8,849

71,217
9,241

Amounts due from Company undertakings are unsecured. A loan of £7.6 million (2018: £7.6 million) was made
to Vendcrown Limited which is repayable in October 2022 and earns interest of £0.6 million being at an interest
rate of 1% (2018: £0.5 million). The remaining balance of £74.4 million (2018: £60.6 million) relates principally
to expenses paid by PCL on behalf of related parties and is interest free and repayable on demand.
Prepayments and accrued income of £11.7 million (2018: £11.7 million) include £1.4 million (2018: £2.6 million)
of fees relating to the Master Trust which are amortised over 5 years and £0.9 million of fees relating to undrawn
facilities.
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16. DEFERRED TAX ASSET
Deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January
Deferred tax charge/(credit) for the year attributable to:
Deferred tax charge in respect of current year
Adjustments in respect of prior period
Effect of rate change
Deferred tax asset as at 31 December

2019
£’000
424

2018
£’000
261

149
(71)
(19)
483

128
52
(17)
424

The deferred tax asset in the balance sheet is as follows:

Deferred tax due within 12 months
Deferred tax due in more than 12 months
Carrying amount at year end

31 Dec 2019
£’000
(185)
668
483

31 Dec 2018
£’000
(183)
607
424

31 Dec 2019
£’000
373
110
483

31 Dec 2018
£’000
332
92
424

There are no unused tax losses or unused tax credits.
The deferred tax asset in the balance sheet is as follows:

Accelerated capital allowances
s1308 R&D intangible fixed asset
Carrying amount at year end

17.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec 2019
£’000
54,538
54,538

31 Dec 2018
£’000
29,466
29,466
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Accruals and deferred income
Social security and other taxes
Other creditors
Total trade and other payables

2019
£’000
438,658
956,952
14,691

2018
£’000
412,831
938,099
11,903

1,000
515

1,149
444

1,411,816

1,364,426

Amounts owed to Company undertakings of £957.0 million (2018: £938.1 million) consists of £958.1 million
owed to PCL Asset Trustee Limited, offset by the securitisation facility set up fees of £2.1 million (2018: £4.1
million) which are amortised over the facility period. An intercompany balance of £1.0 million (2018: £1.0
million) was owed to Pomegranate Acquisitions Limited, which is interest free and repayable on demand.
Intercompany balances with the SPV entities arise on securitisation transactions, including the issue of
securitisation notes and public ABS notes. Securitisation notes are a source of variable rate funding provided to
the Company through the sterling denominated Variable Note Issuance Programme in the SPV. Notes are issued
or redeemed in proportion to the increase or decrease in the portfolio of loans to customers.

19.

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted and fully paid
10,000 (2018: 10,000) ordinary shares of £1 each
10,000 ordinary shares (2018: 10,000) of USD 0.01 each
Called up share capital

20.

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

10
10

10
10

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

-

50,000
50,000

DIVIDENDS

On Ordinary shares
Declared and paid: £nil per £1 share
(2018: £5,000 per £1 share)
Dividends paid
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INVESTMENT IN COMPANY UNDERTAKINGS

Name

Country of
incorporation

Nature of
business

Percentage of
shares held

Share Capital

Direct Debit Management
Services Limited

UK

Dormant

100

£2

The Directors believe that the carrying value of the investment is supported by the underlying net assets.
The registered address of Direct Debit Management Services Limited is Ermyn House, Ermyn Way, Leatherhead,
Surrey, KT22 8UX.

22.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

a) Capital Commitments
Capital expenditure authorised and contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounts to
£0.1 million (2018: £0.8 million).
b) Non-cancellable operating leases
The Company leases various offices and vehicles under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within six
months to eight years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the
terms of the leases are renegotiated.
From 1 January 2019, the Company has recognised right-of-use assets for these leases, except for short-term
and low-value leases, see note 13 for further information.
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases (under IAS 17) are
as follows:

No later than one year
Later than one year and no later than five years
Over five years
Operating lease commitments

Land & Buildings
2019
2018
£’000
£’000
906
3,869
2,660
7,435

Other
2019
£’000
-

2018
£’000
201
232
433
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a) Classification of financial instruments under IFRS 9
The following tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with the categories of
financial instruments under IFRS 9.
At 31 December 2019

FVTPL
£’000

Amortised cost
£’000

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to customers
Amounts due from Group undertakings
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total financial liabilities

At 31 December 2018
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to customers
Amounts due from Group undertakings
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total financial liabilities

Total
£’000

-

54,538
1,445,449
82,581
1,582,568

54,538
1,445,449
82,581
1,582,568

-

1,396,125
1,396,125

1,396,125
1,396,125

FVTPL
£’000

Amortised cost
£’000

Total
£’000

-

29,466
1,400,676
68,736
1,498,878

29,466
1,400,676
68,736
1,498,878

-

1,364,426
1,364,426

1,364,426
1,364,426
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

b) Fair values
Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors consider that the carrying value amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded on the balance sheet are approximately equal to their fair values.

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Assets
Loans to customers
Amounts due from Group undertakings
Total financial assets

-

1,445,449
82,581
1,528,030

-

1,445,449
82,581
1,528,030

Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total financial liabilities

-

1,411,816
1,411,816

-

1,411,816
1,411,816

At 31 December 2019

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Assets
Loans to customers
Amounts due from Group undertakings
Total financial assets

-

1,400,676
68,736
1,469,412

-

1,400,676
68,736
1,469,412

Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total financial liabilities

-

1,364,426
1,364,426

-

1,364,426
1,364,426

At 31 December 2018

There are three levels to the hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Maturity profile
A maturity analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows of the Company’s asset and liabilities is shown
below. These differ from the statement of financial position values due to the effects of discounting on certain
balance sheet items and due to the inclusion of contractual future interest flows.
At 31 December 2019
Financial liabilities
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
Total financial
liabilities

Repayable
on demand
£’000

<1 year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

< 5 years
£’000

Total
£’000

-

1,396,125

-

-

-

1,396,125

-

-

2,093

-

-

2,093

-

1,396,125

2,093

-

-

1,398,218

-

1,441,869

3,580

-

-

1,445,449

-

75,026

-

7,555

-

82,581

Financial assets
Loans to customers
Amounts due from
Group undertakings
Cash and cash
equivalents
Total financial assets

54,538

-

-

-

-

54,538

54,538

1,516,895

3,580

7,555

-

1,582,568

Maturity gap

54,538

120,770

1,487

7,555

-

184,350

At 31 December 2018
Financial liabilities
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
Total financial
liabilities

Repayable
on demand
£’000

<1 year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

< 5 years
£’000

Total
£’000

-

1,363,277

-

-

-

1,363,277

-

-

4,102

-

-

4,102

-

1,363,277

4,102

-

-

1,367,379

-

1,397,547

3,129

-

-

1,400,676

-

61,181

-

7,555

-

68,736

Financial assets
Loans to customers
Amounts due from
Group undertakings
Cash and cash
equivalents
Total financial assets

29,466

-

-

-

-

29,466

29,466

1,458,728

3,129

7,555

-

1,498,878

Maturity gap

29,466

95,451

(973)

7,555

-

131,499
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CAPITAL RESOURCES

It is the Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it
efficiently throughout its activities to optimise the return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent
relationship between the capital base and the underlying risks of the business.
The Company’s objectives in managing capital are:
•

To ensure that the Company has sufficient capital to meet its operational requirements and long-term
strategic objectives;

•

To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns to shareholders and benefits for its stakeholders; and

•

To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk.

The Company sets the amount of capital based on the Board’s view of perceived credit risk, the availability and
cost of external financing. The Company manages the capital structure and adjusts it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets, having particular regard to the relative
costs and availability of debt and equity finance at any given time. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares, issue or redeem other capital instruments, such as corporate bonds, or allow loans and
receivables to mature without subsequent advancement. The Company is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements.

Profit for the financial year
Divided by:
Opening equity
Closing equity
Average equity
Return on equity

2019
£’000
35,080

2018
£’000
31,813

164,451
197,828
181,140
19.4%

182,362
164,451
173,407
18.3%

Return on equity is defined by the Company as profit after tax divided by the average of the opening and closing
equity positions.
The debt and equity amounts for the Company at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:
Notes
Debt
Amounts owed to Company undertakings
Less: Cash
Net debt
Equity
Equity
Total net debt plus equity

18
17

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

956,952
(54,538)
902,414

938,099
(29,466)
908,633

197,828
1,100,242

164,451
1,073,084
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS 101 not to disclose
transactions with wholly owned companies.
During the year the Company had the following transactions with the related parties, who are not wholly owned
companies:
Transactions involving Directors and other key connected persons
During the year, the Company paid to Cinven service fees of £0.4 million (2018: £0.4 million). The company also
paid finance commission to Ingenie Services Limited of £1.2 million (2018: £nil million) at the end of the year
£0.6 million (2018: £nil million) was outstanding. Ingenie Services Limited is related through key management
personnel.
On the 4th July 2019, the Company granted a loan to a director of £40,000, with interest payable at 2.5% per
annum, for the purpose of acquiring shares in Pomegranate Topco Limited.

27.

PENSION COMMITMENTS

Contributions to the defined contribution pension scheme during the year were £1.5 million (2018: £1.3 million).
At year-end, there were no outstanding or prepaid contributions (2018: £nil).

28.

ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING

The immediate parent undertaking is Vendcrown Limited.
The ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2019 is Pomegranate Topco Limited, a company incorporated
in Jersey. The consolidated financial statements of Pomegranate Topco Limited are available from Aztec
Financial Services (Jersey) Limited, 11-15 Seaton Place, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 0QH. Pomegranate Topco Limited
Company is the largest Company of undertakings for which Company financial statements are drawn up and of
which the Company is a member.
The ultimate controlling party is the Fifth Cinven Fund which is managed by Cinven Capital Management (V)
General Partner Limited.
The Mizzen Mezzco Limited Company is the smallest company of undertakings for which company financial
statements are drawn up and of which the Company is a member. The consolidated financial statements of
Mizzen Mezzco Limited are available from Ermyn House, Ermyn Way, Leatherhead, KT22 8UX, England.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

During the first half of 2020 the outbreak of Covid-19 caused material disruptions to the UK economy, including
the markets serviced by the Company. As of the balance sheet date it was not known how severe the economic
impact of Covid-19 would be as the vast majority of cases were then in Asia, where the Company does not
operate. In accordance with IAS 10 Events after the reporting period, the directors therefore consider this
outbreak to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event as at 31 December 2019.
The Company has seen an impact on the business in the first half of 2020 due to payment holidays introduced
by the government, together with requests for forbearance. The directors have worked closely with the FCA to
take the appropriate actions to pro-actively manage this process and will continue to do so. The Company is
well-positioned with strong capital, funding and liquidity resources, and it aims to ensure that this remains the
case. The directors acknowledge the likelihood of a financial impact to the Company over the next financial year;
however, this will require assessment once the long-term economic impact of Covid-19 is clearer.
There were no other post balance sheet events.

30.

IFRS 16 TRANSITION DISCLOSURE

IFRS 16 Leases replaces IAS 17 Leases. The adoption of this new standard has resulted in the Company
recognising a right-of-use asset and related lease liability in connection with all former operating leases except
for those identified as low-value or having a remaining lease term of less than 12 months from the date of initial
application. The new standard has been applied using the modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative
effect of adopting IFRS 16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings for the current year. Prior periods have not been restated.
At the date of initial application of IFRS 16 Leases, 1 January 2019, the Company has also elected to measure the
right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments
that existed at the date of transition. Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at
the date of initial application, the Company has relied on its historic assessment as to whether leases were
onerous immediately before the date of initial application of IFRS 16 Leases.
On adoption of IFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17, ‘Leases’. These liabilities were measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of
1 January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on
1 January 2019 was 4.8% for Building lease and a variable percentage depending on Vehicle for Vehicle leases.
i) Practical expedients applied:
On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than
12 months and for leases of low-value assets the Company has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise
right-of-use assets but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term,
applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.
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ii) Measurement of lease liabilities:
Buildings
£’000

Total
£’000

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018

7,435

Vehicles
£’000
433

Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate of at the date of
initial application

(869)

(39)

(908)

(133)
6,433

(136)
258

(269)
6,691

669
5,764
6,433

182
76
258

851
5,840
6,691

(Less): short-term leases not recognised as a liability
Total lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
Of which are:
Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities

7,868
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